

Treadmilling by FtsZ filaments drives peptidoglycan synthesis and bacterial cell division

Bisson-Filho, Alexandre W.; Hsu, Yen Pang; Squyres, Georgia R.; Kuru, Erkin; Wu, Fabai; Jukes, Calum; Sun, Yingjie; Dekker, Cees; Holden, Seamus; VanNieuwenhze, Michael S.

DOI

[10.1126/science.aak9973](https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aak9973)

Publication date

2017

Document Version

Accepted author manuscript

Published in

Science

Citation (APA)

Bisson-Filho, A. W., Hsu, Y. P., Squyres, G. R., Kuru, E., Wu, F., Jukes, C., Sun, Y., Dekker, C., Holden, S., VanNieuwenhze, M. S., Brun, Y. V., & Garner, E. C. (2017). Treadmilling by FtsZ filaments drives peptidoglycan synthesis and bacterial cell division. *Science*, 355(6326), 739-743. <https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aak9973>

Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

BEPO
11 pp..
4 color figs.

Science Report
aak9973
Has SM

[Author: This document allows you to review the copy-editing changes so that you can accept or reject them when you receive your galley proofs; it is not a galley proof. Added text is underlined; deleted text has a line through it. Please check all changes and respond to the queries and comments as you mark the galley.](#)

[Please ensure that all references to genetic material including genes, alleles, and genotypes are italicized but that all protein products and phenotypes are set roman \(no italic\), with appropriate capitalization.](#)

[In the reference list, full author list and article titles will appear online but not in print. Links are shown here for your convenience; they will appear online.](#)

[Thank you.](#)

[Barbara Ordway](#)

[Content Production Editor, Science](#)

[AAAS](#)

BACTERIAL DIVISION

Treadmilling by FtsZ filaments drives peptidoglycan synthesis and bacterial cell division

Alexandre W. Bisson-Filho,^{1‡} Yen-Pang Hsu,^{2‡} Georgia R. Squyres,^{1‡} Erkin Kuru,^{2*,‡} Fabai Wu,^{3‡} Calum Jukes,⁴ Yingjie Sun,¹ Cees Dekker,^{3§} Seamus Holden,^{4§} Michael S. VanNieuwenhze,^{2,5§} Yves V. Brun,⁶ Ethan C. Garner^{1§}

¹Molecular and Cellular Biology, [Faculty of Arts and Sciences](#) (FAS) Center for Systems Biology, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA. ²Department of Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN 47405, USA. ³Department of Bionanoscience, Kavli Institute of Nanoscience Delft, Delft University of Technology, Netherlands. ⁴Centre for Bacterial Cell Biology, Institute for Cell and Molecular Biosciences, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne NE2 4AX, UK. ⁵Department of Chemistry, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN 47405, USA. ⁶Department of Biology, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN 47405, USA.

*Present address: Department of Genetics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, [USA](#).

†Present address: Division of Geology and Planetary Sciences, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA 91125, [USA](#).

‡These authors contributed equally to this work.

§Corresponding author. Email: egarner@g.harvard.edu (E.C.G.); mvannieu@indiana.edu (M.S.V.); ybrun@indiana.edu (Y.V.B.); seamus.holden@newcastle.ac.uk (S.H.); c.dekker@tudelft.nl (C.D.)

The mechanism by which bacteria divide is not well understood. Cell division is mediated by filaments of FtsZ and FtsA (FtsAZ) that recruit septal peptidoglycan synthesizing enzymes to the division site. To understand how these components coordinate to divide cells, we visualized their

movements relative to the dynamics of cell wall synthesis during cytokinesis. We found that the division septum was built at discrete sites that moved around the division plane. FtsAZ filaments treadmilled circumferentially around the division ring, ~~and driveing~~ the motions of the peptidoglycan synthesizing enzymes. The FtsZ treadmilling rate controlled both the rate of peptidoglycan synthesis and cell division. Thus, FtsZ treadmilling guides the progressive insertion of new cell wall, ~~by~~ building increasingly smaller concentric rings of peptidoglycan to divide the cell.

In most bacteria, cell division involves the inward synthesis of peptidoglycan (PG), creating a septum that cleaves the cell in two. The location of the septal PG synthases is regulated by filaments of the tubulin homolog FtsZ, which associates ~~s~~ with the cytoplasmic side of the membrane via the ~~actin-like~~ FtsA and other factors. FtsZ forms membrane-associated filaments with FtsA (FtsAZ) (1, 2). Together, they form a dynamic structure, the Z ring, which encircles the cell at the future division site (3) and recruits PG synthases and other proteins involved in cytokinesis (4). Once the division machinery is mature, the Z ring constricts, ~~while~~ the associated synthases build the septum that partitions the cell in two.

We do not have a clear understanding of how the components of cell division interact in space and time to carry out cytokinesis, as we have been unable to observe the dynamics of each component relative to each other or to the structure they build: The organization and dynamics of FtsZ filaments within the Z ring remain ill-defined; ~~it~~ is not known how FtsAZ filaments control the activity of PG synthases; ~~and~~ the dynamics of septal PG synthesis have never been directly observed. To gain insight into how these components work together to divide bacteria, we visualized the dynamics of septal PG synthesis in relation to the movements of FtsAZ filaments and the septal PG synthase Pbp2B in the Gram-positive *Bacillus subtilis*.

To assess the dynamics of septal PG synthesis, we sequentially pulse-labeled growing cells with different colors of fluorescent D-amino acids (FDAAs) (table S1), which are incorporated into PG (5) by the D,D-transpeptidation activity of penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) (6). ~~Three-dimensional~~ (3D)-structured illumination microscopy (3D-SIM) showed that sequential three-color FDAA pulse-labeling resulted in bull's-eye patterns at the division plane (Fig. 1A), demonstrating ~~that~~ the septum is progressively synthesized inward from the cell surface. Short, sequential pulses of two FDAA colors resulted in discrete spots or arcs distributed around the septum, with the colors more offset ~~compared than for~~ cells pulsed simultaneously (Fig. 1, B and C, and fig. S1, A and B). Thus, PG synthesis occurs at discrete sites that move around the division plane.

We next observed how discrete sites of PG synthesis develop into a complete division septum by labeling cells with FDAAs ~~and~~ using increasing pulse durations. Both the total amount of labeling and the area of labeled regions increased with pulse duration (Fig. 1D, left, and fig. S2, A to C). Following short pulses, septa contained discrete spots or arcs (fig. S1C). As pulse duration increased, these arcs elongated, ~~gradually transitioning~~ into complete rings at longer pulses (Fig. 1D, right). As expected, PG synthesis inhibitors reduced FDAA incorporation (fig. S2D). To explore the location of the PG synthases relative to newly incorporated PG, we followed short FDAA pulses with Bocillin, which labels active PBPs (7) while inactivating them. The Bocillin signal was offset from the newly-synthesized PG (Fig. 1, C and E), suggesting ~~that~~ the PG synthases also move around the division plane.

Comment [BEPO1]: We hyphenate three-syllable words with like.

Comment [BEPO2]: If time (meanwhile) is meant, remove comma before "while.". Otherwise "and" may be better.

Comment [BEPO3]: I suggest "and gradually transitioned"

We next examined the motions of the division-specific PG synthases and their associated cytoskeletal polymers. Total internal reflection fluorescence microscopy (TIRFM) of a functional mNeonGreen-FtsZ fusion expressed from the native locus (fig. S3, A to E, and tables S2 and S3) revealed directional movements within newly assembled Z rings (Fig. 2A and movie S1). Furthermore, in almost every cell, we observed small mNeonGreen-FtsZ filaments outside the Z ring moving directionally around the cell at the same rate as within Z rings, similar to oscillations previously observed in *Escherichia coli* (8). A functional FtsA-mNeonGreen fusion showed motions identical to FtsZ (Fig. 2B and movie S1), and two-color imaging confirmed [that](#) FtsA and FtsZ colocalized and moved together (Fig. 2C) (9). Overexpression of a second *ftsAZ* operon (FtsA, mNeonGreen-FtsZ) resulted in many more directionally moving filaments outside the Z ring [without affecting](#) fitness (Fig. 2D and fig. S3F). [To resolve FtsZ motion in dense,](#) actively constricting Z rings, we vertically immobilized bacteria in agarose microholes, orienting the division plane parallel to the objective (fig. S4). This revealed multiple FtsZ filaments moving in both directions around the constriction site over a wide range of ring diameters (600-[to](#) 1000 nm) (Fig. 2E, fig. S4E, and movie S2). The movement of multiple FtsZ filaments around [the](#) Z ring may explain the heterogeneous structures and complex “patch” dynamics observed via super-resolution microscopy (10–12), as well as the fast turnover of FtsZ subunits (13).

Comment [BEPO4]: Filaments that...moved without affecting OR moving filaments that did not affect fitness. I think the former is better; please improve the sentence.

We next asked if the division-associated transpeptidase Pbp2B moves with FtsAZ. At native expression levels, mNeonGreen-Pbp2B moved directionally along the Z ring; this became more apparent with reduced expression (fig. S5, A and B). To observe the motions of single Pbp2B molecules, we labeled HaloTag-Pbp2B expressed from the native locus with low concentrations of HaloLigand-JF549 (14). TIRFM revealed two types of Pbp2B motion: [+\(i\)](#) directional motion around the cell width, always localized to Z rings, and [-\(ii\)](#) diffusion on the membrane, not localized to Z rings (Fig. 2F; fig. S5, C to E; and movie S3). We did not observe diffusive Pbp2B motion along Z rings at any acquisition rate. In some cases, we observed multiple Pbp2B molecules moving directionally within the same ring, sometimes in opposite directions, indicating that the Z ring contains multiple, independent synthetic sites. FtsZ, FtsA, and Pbp2B all moved at similar velocities (Fig. 2G and fig. S5, D and E), [suggesting](#) that their motions are associated.

Comment [BEPO5]: What is suggesting? I think the similarity suggested.

We investigated the mechanism driving FtsAZ/Pbp2B motion, first testing if, similar to MreB (15), Pbp2B inactivation would halt FtsAZ motion. However, FtsAZ motion was unaffected by multiple PG synthesis inhibitors (Fig. 3, A and H, and movie S4) or depletion of Pbp2B (Fig. 3, B and H, and movie S5).

We next tested if directional FtsAZ motion arose from filament treadmilling, as observed in vitro (16). Consistent with treadmilling, sparse labeling of FtsZ or FtsA in cells demonstrated that single molecules of both proteins were immobile within moving filaments (17) (Fig. 3C; fig. S5, F to J; and movie S6). Because treadmilling requires nucleotide hydrolysis, we assayed FtsA motion as we modulated the [guanosine triphosphatase](#) (GTPase) activity of FtsZ. Exogenous expression of FtsZ(D213A), a mutant [in which Ala replaces Asp²¹³ that has been](#) shown to have greatly reduced GTPase activity in *E. coli* (18), gradually reduced FtsAZ velocity, stopping motion at high inductions (Fig. 3, D and G, and movie S7A). Likewise, addition of PC190723, an inhibitor of FtsZ [guanosine triphosphate](#) (GTP) hydrolysis (19) halted FtsZ movement (Fig. 3E and movie S8A). Conversely, addition of MciZ, a Z ring antagonist that, at low levels, increases FtsZ GTPase activity (20), increased FtsZ velocity (Fig. 3, F and H, and movie S7B). We next tested whether FtsZ treadmilling dynamics affected Pbp2B movement. PC190723 or

overexpression of FtsZ(D213A) caused Pbp2B molecules to become immobile while [the](#) remaining FtsZ colocalized (Fig. 3, D and E, and movie S8B). Pbp2B velocity scaled with FtsZ treadmilling velocity under various perturbations (fig. S5K). Thus, FtsZ treadmilling is required for the directional motions of both FtsAZ filaments and septal PG syntheses.

Given the mobile nature of septal PG synthesis, we reasoned that the directional movements of FtsAZ [and](#) Pbp2B around the division plane could be coupled to septal PG synthesis. To test this, we labeled cells with FDAAs as we altered FtsZ dynamics. Overexpression of FtsZ(D213A) created long, slowly [growing](#) FtsA-mNeonGreen spirals, which incorporated FDAAs along their entire length (Fig. 4A and movie S9). Likewise, long PC190723 treatments resulted in fragmented patches of both FtsZ and FDAA incorporation (fig. S6A), indicating Pbp2B activity is constrained by FtsAZ location. However, these strong inhibitions of FtsZ dynamics required much longer pulses to achieve FDAA labeling, [suggesting](#) that FtsZ treadmilling limits PG synthesis. To test this, we altered FtsAZ velocity as we pulse-labeled cells with FDAAs. This revealed that both the total amount and total area of PG synthesis within the ring are modulated by FtsAZ velocity: Conditions that slowed dynamics decreased both the total amount and area of FDAA labeling (Fig. 4B and fig. S6, B and C). Conversely, increasing FtsAZ velocity (with MciZ) increased both the total amount and area of labeling. Thus, in *B. subtilis*, both the amount and spatial distribution of septal PG synthesis are directly coupled to, and limited by, the rate of FtsZ filament treadmilling.

Comment [BEPO6]: Doesn't the longer time or length of time suggest? Maybe "and this suggests" or ". This indicates..."

Because FtsAZ dynamics control the rate of septal synthesis, we asked whether the rate of cytokinesis depended on FtsAZ treadmilling. We modulated treadmilling velocity by [1\(i\)](#) introducing mutations affecting GTP hydrolysis into FtsZ at the native locus, [2\(ii\)](#) titrating exogenous FtsZ(D213A), [3\(iii\)](#) expressing MciZ, and [4\(iv\)](#) other perturbations (table S4). This revealed [that](#) the cytokinesis rate scaled with FtsZ treadmilling: Division was slower when velocity was decreased, and faster when velocity was increased (Fig. 4C; fig. S7, A to C; and movie S10). Even under the strongest perturbations, these decreased rates of cytokinesis did not alter the rate of cell elongation (fig. S7, D to F). Thus, in *B. subtilis*, FtsAZ treadmilling is both coupled to, and limiting for, septal PG synthesis and cell constriction.

Our results indicate that cell division occurs by the action of discrete enzyme-filament complexes that, driven by FtsZ treadmilling, move around the division plane, building new PG during their transit (Fig. 4D). FtsZ treadmilling creates long [range](#) order from the local activity of the PG syntheses, linking circumferential enzyme motion to the insertion of cell wall. This tight coupling may yield uniform insertion of new material around the division plane, building the septum inward in progressively smaller concentric rings. Cell division slightly differs in *E. coli*, where FtsZ treadmilling also distributes PG synthesis around the ring (21), perhaps because the rate of PG synthesis is limiting relative to FtsZ treadmilling (10). This difference may arise from different levels of cell wall precursors between the two organisms; or ~~that~~ [because](#) *E. coli* must also couple PG synthesis to outer membrane insertion.

The coupling between FtsZ treadmilling and PG synthesis can unify previously conflicting models of cell division. FtsZ filaments have been proposed to generate force to bend membranes (2, 22); and to scaffold PG synthesis (10, 23). If FtsZ filaments deform membranes, coupling their movement to PG synthesis would allow each deformation to be reinforced [via](#) [by](#) [means](#) [of](#) synthesis of PG (24). Thus, multiple sites of local deformation and coupled reinforcing synthesis moving around the division site would iteratively build the invaginating septum.

References and Notes

1. Y. Chen, H. P. Erickson, Rapid in vitro assembly dynamics and subunit turnover of FtsZ demonstrated by fluorescence resonance energy transfer. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 22549–22554 (2005). [doi:10.1074/jbc.M500895200](https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M500895200) [Medline](#)
2. P. Szwedziak, Q. Wang, T. A. M. Bharat, M. Tsim, J. Löwe, Architecture of the ring formed by the tubulin homologue FtsZ in bacterial cell division. *eLife* **3**, e04601 (2014). [doi:10.7554/eLife.04601](https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.04601) [Medline](#)
3. X. Ma, D. W. Ehrhardt, W. Margolin, Colocalization of cell division proteins FtsZ and FtsA to cytoskeletal structures in living *Escherichia coli* cells by using green fluorescent protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **93**, 12998–13003 (1996). [doi:10.1073/pnas.93.23.12998](https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.23.12998) [Medline](#)
4. P. Gamba, J. W. Veening, N. J. Saunders, L. W. Hamoen, R. A. Daniel, Two-step assembly dynamics of the *Bacillus subtilis* divisome. *J. Bacteriol.* **191**, 4186–4194 (2009). [doi:10.1128/JB.01758-08](https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01758-08) [Medline](#)
5. E. Kuru, H. V. Hughes, P. J. Brown, E. Hall, S. Tekkam, F. Cava, M. A. de Pedro, Y. V. Brun, M. S. VanNieuwenhze, In situ probing of newly synthesized peptidoglycan in live bacteria with fluorescent D-amino acids. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **51**, 12519–12523 (2012). [doi:10.1002/anie.201206749](https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201206749) [Medline](#)
6. T. J. Lupoli, H. Tsukamoto, E. H. Doud, T.-S. A. Wang, S. Walker, D. Kahne, Transpeptidase-mediated incorporation of D-amino acids into bacterial peptidoglycan. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **133**, 10748–10751 (2011). [doi:10.1021/ja2040656](https://doi.org/10.1021/ja2040656) [Medline](#)
7. C. Eberhardt, L. Kuerschner, D. S. Weiss, Probing the catalytic activity of a cell division-specific transpeptidase in vivo with beta-lactams. *J. Bacteriol.* **185**, 3726–3734 (2003). [doi:10.1128/JB.185.13.3726-3734.2003](https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.185.13.3726-3734.2003) [Medline](#)
8. S. Thanedar, W. Margolin, FtsZ exhibits rapid movement and oscillation waves in helix-like patterns in *Escherichia coli*. *Curr. Biol.* **14**, 1167–1173 (2004). [doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.048](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.048) [Medline](#)
9. V. W. Rowlett, W. Margolin, 3D-SIM super-resolution of FtsZ and its membrane tethers in *Escherichia coli* cells. *Biophys. J.* **107**, L17–L20 (2014). [doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2014.08.024](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2014.08.024) [Medline](#)
10. C. Coltharp, J. Buss, T. M. Plumer, J. Xiao, Defining the rate-limiting processes of bacterial cytokinesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **113**, E1044–E1053 (2016). [doi:10.1073/pnas.1514296113](https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1514296113) [Medline](#)
11. S. J. Holden, T. Pengo, K. L. Meibom, C. Fernandez Fernandez, J. Collier, S. Manley, High throughput 3D super-resolution microscopy reveals *Caulobacter crescentus* in vivo Z-ring organization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **111**, 4566–4571 (2014). [doi:10.1073/pnas.1313368111](https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1313368111) [Medline](#)
12. M. P. Strauss, A. T. F. Liew, L. Turnbull, C. B. Whitchurch, L. G. Monahan, E. J. Harry, 3D-SIM super resolution microscopy reveals a bead-like arrangement for FtsZ and the division machinery: Implications for triggering cytokinesis. *PLOS Biol.* **10**, e1001389 (2012). [doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001389](https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001389) [Medline](#)

13. D. E. Anderson, F. J. Gueiros-Filho, H. P. Erickson, Assembly dynamics of FtsZ rings in *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli* and effects of FtsZ-regulating proteins. *J. Bacteriol.* **186**, 5775–5781 (2004). [doi:10.1128/JB.186.17.5775-5781.2004](https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.186.17.5775-5781.2004) [Medline](#)
14. J. B. Grimm, B. P. English, J. Chen, J. P. Slaughter, Z. Zhang, A. Revyakin, R. Patel, J. J. Macklin, D. Normanno, R. H. Singer, T. Lionnet, L. D. Lavis, A general method to improve fluorophores for live-cell and single-molecule microscopy. *Nat. Methods* **12**, 244–250, 3, 250 (2015). [doi:10.1038/nmeth.3256](https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3256) [Medline](#)
15. E. C. Garner, R. Bernard, W. Wang, X. Zhuang, D. Z. Rudner, T. Mitchison, Coupled, circumferential motions of the cell wall synthesis machinery and MreB filaments in *B. subtilis*. *Science* **333**, 222–225 (2011). [doi:10.1126/science.1203285](https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1203285) [Medline](#)
16. M. Loose, T. J. Mitchison, The bacterial cell division proteins FtsA and FtsZ self-organize into dynamic cytoskeletal patterns. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **16**, 38–46 (2014). [doi:10.1038/ncb2885](https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2885) [Medline](#)
17. L. Niu, J. Yu, Investigating intracellular dynamics of FtsZ cytoskeleton with photoactivation single-molecule tracking. *Biophys. J.* **95**, 2009–2016 (2008). [doi:10.1529/biophysj.108.128751](https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.108.128751) [Medline](#)
18. S. D. Redick, J. Stricker, G. Briscoe, H. P. Erickson, Mutants of FtsZ targeting the protofilament interface: Effects on cell division and GTPase activity. *J. Bacteriol.* **187**, 2727–2736 (2005). [doi:10.1128/JB.187.8.2727-2736.2005](https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.8.2727-2736.2005) [Medline](#)
19. D. J. Haydon, N. R. Stokes, R. Ure, G. Galbraith, J. M. Bennett, D. R. Brown, P. J. Baker, V. V. Barynin, D. W. Rice, S. E. Sedelnikova, J. R. Heal, J. M. Sheridan, S. T. Aiwale, P. K. Chauhan, A. Srivastava, A. Taneja, I. Collins, J. Errington, L. G. Czaplewski, An inhibitor of FtsZ with potent and selective anti-staphylococcal activity. *Science* **321**, 1673–1675 (2008). [doi:10.1126/science.1159961](https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1159961) [Medline](#)
20. A. W. Bisson-Filho, K. F. Discola, P. Castellen, V. Blasios, A. Martins, M. L. Sforça, W. Garcia, A. C. M. Zeri, H. P. Erickson, A. Dessen, F. J. Gueiros-Filho, FtsZ filament capping by MciZ, a developmental regulator of bacterial division. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **112**, E2130–E2138 (2015). [doi:10.1073/pnas.1414242112](https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1414242112) [Medline](#)
21. X. Yang *et al.*, GTPase activity-coupled treadmilling of the bacterial tubulin FtsZ organizes septal cell-wall synthesis. *bioRxiv*, 10.1101/077610 (2016).
22. M. Osawa, H. P. Erickson, Liposome division by a simple bacterial division machinery. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **110**, 11000–11004 (2013). [doi:10.1073/pnas.1222254110](https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1222254110) [Medline](#)
23. A. J. F. Egan, W. Vollmer, The stoichiometric divisome: A hypothesis. *Front. Microbiol.* **6**, 455 (2015). [doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00455](https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00455) [Medline](#)
24. Z. Li, M. J. Trimble, Y. V. Brun, G. J. Jensen, The structure of FtsZ filaments in vivo suggests a force-generating role in cell division. *EMBO J.* **26**, 4694–4708 (2007). [doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601895](https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601895) [Medline](#)
25. E. Kuru, S. Tekkam, E. Hall, Y. V. Brun, M. S. Van Nieuwenhze, Synthesis of fluorescent D-amino acids and their use for probing peptidoglycan synthesis and bacterial growth in situ. *Nat. Protoc.* **10**, 33–52 (2015). [doi:10.1038/nprot.2014.197](https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2014.197) [Medline](#)

26. H. C. Wang, R. C. Gayda, High-level expression of the FtsA protein inhibits cell septation in *Escherichia coli* K-12. *J. Bacteriol.* **172**, 4736–4740 (1990). [doi:10.1128/jb.172.8.4736-4740.1990](https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.172.8.4736-4740.1990) [Medline](#)
27. S. J. Dewar, K. J. Begg, W. D. Donachie, Inhibition of cell division initiation by an imbalance in the ratio of FtsA to FtsZ. *J. Bacteriol.* **174**, 6314–6316 (1992). [doi:10.1128/jb.174.19.6314-6316.1992](https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.174.19.6314-6316.1992) [Medline](#)
28. L. Araújo-Bazán, L. B. Ruiz-Avila, D. Andreu, S. Huecas, J. M. Andreu, Cytological profile of antibacterial FtsZ inhibitors and synthetic peptide MciZ. *Front. Microbiol.* **7**, 1558 (2016). [doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.01558](https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01558) [Medline](#)
29. A. A. Handler, J. E. Lim, R. Losick, Peptide inhibitor of cytokinesis during sporulation in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol. Microbiol.* **68**, 588–599 (2008). [doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06173.x](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06173.x) [Medline](#)
- ~~30. J.-Y. Tinevez, N. Perry, J. Schindelin, G. M. Hoopes, G. D. Reynolds, E. Laplantine, S. Y. Bednarek, S. L. Shorte, K. W. Eliceiri, TrackMate: An open and extensible platform for single-particle tracking. *Methods* **S1046-2023(16)30334-6** (2016). [Medline](#)~~
- ~~30. J.-Y. T. N. Perry, J. Schindelin, TrackMate. (2012).~~
31. F. Wu, B. G. C. van Schie, J. E. Keymer, C. Dekker, Symmetry and scale orient Min protein patterns in shaped bacterial sculptures. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **10**, 719–726 (2015). [doi:10.1038/nnano.2015.126](https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2015.126) [Medline](#)
32. J. Männik, F. Wu, F. J. H. Hol, P. Bisicchia, D. J. Sherratt, J. E. Keymer, C. Dekker, Robustness and accuracy of cell division in *Escherichia coli* in diverse cell shapes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **109**, 6957–6962 (2012). [doi:10.1073/pnas.1120854109](https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1120854109) [Medline](#)
33. I. G. de Jong, K. Beilharz, O. P. Kuipers, J.-W. Veening, Live cell imaging of *Bacillus subtilis* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* using automated time-lapse microscopy. *J. Vis. Exp.* **53**, e3145 (2011). [Medline](#)
34. J. Schindelin, I. Arganda-Carreras, E. Frise, V. Kaynig, M. Longair, T. Pietzsch, S. Preibisch, C. Rueden, S. Saalfeld, B. Schmid, J.-Y. Tinevez, D. J. White, V. Hartenstein, K. Eliceiri, P. Tomancak, A. Cardona, Fiji: An open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nat. Methods* **9**, 676–682 (2012). [doi:10.1038/nmeth.2019](https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019) [Medline](#)
35. G. Ball, J. Demmerle, R. Kaufmann, I. Davis, I. M. Dobbie, L. Schermelleh, SIMcheck: A toolbox for successful super-resolution Structured Illumination Microscopy. *Sci. Rep.* **5**, 15915 (2015). [doi:10.1038/srep15915](https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15915) [Medline](#)
36. H. Hoffman, “violin. m-Simple violin plot using matlab default kernel density estimation” (INRES, University of Bonn, Katzenburgweg, 2015).
37. F. Zoergiebel, “PLOTERR” [general error bar plot] (MathWorks, Natick, MA, 2008).
38. F. O. Bendezú, C. A. Hale, T. G. Bernhardt, P. A. J. de Boer, RodZ (YfgA) is required for proper assembly of the MreB actin cytoskeleton and cell shape in *E. coli*. *EMBO J.* **28**, 193–204 (2009). [doi:10.1038/emboj.2008.264](https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2008.264) [Medline](#)
39. T. K. Lee, K. Meng, H. Shi, K. C. Huang, Single-molecule imaging reveals modulation of cell wall synthesis dynamics in live bacterial cells. *Nat. Commun.* **7**, 13170 (2016).

Comment [BEPO7]: added

Comment [BEPO8]: added

[doi:10.1038/ncomms13170](https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13170) [Medline](#)

40. H. Cho, C. N. Wivagg, M. Kapoor, Z. Barry, P. D. A. Rohs, H. Suh, J. A. Marto, E. C. Garner, T. G. Bernhardt, Bacterial cell wall biogenesis is mediated by SEDS and PBP polymerase families functioning semi-autonomously. *Nat. Microbiol.* **1**, 16172 (2016). [doi:10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.172](https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.172) [Medline](#)
41. P. J. Youngman, J. B. Perkins, R. Losick, Genetic transposition and insertional mutagenesis in *Bacillus subtilis* with *Streptococcus faecalis* transposon Tn917. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **80**, 2305–2309 (1983). [doi:10.1073/pnas.80.8.2305](https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.80.8.2305) [Medline](#)
42. V. Blasios, A. W. Bisson-Filho, P. Castellen, M. L. C. Nogueira, J. Bettini, R. V. Portugal, A. C. M. Zeri, F. J. Gueiros-Filho, Genetic and biochemical characterization of the MinC-FtsZ interaction in *Bacillus subtilis*. *PLOS ONE* **8**, e60690 (2013). [doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0060690](https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060690) [Medline](#)
43. F. Kunst, N. Ogasawara, I. Moszer, A. M. Albertini, G. Alloni, V. Azevedo, M. G. Bertero, P. Bessières, A. Bolotin, S. Borchert, R. Borriss, L. Boursier, A. Brans, M. Braun, S. C. Brignell, S. Bron, S. Brouillet, C. V. Bruschi, B. Caldwell, V. Capuano, N. M. Carter, S.-K. Choi, J. J. Cordani, I. F. Connerton, N. J. Cummings, R. A. Daniel, F. Denziot, K. M. Devine, A. Düsterhöft, S. D. Ehrlich, P. T. Emmerson, K. D. Entian, J. Errington, C. Fabret, E. Ferrari, D. Foulger, C. Fritz, M. Fujita, Y. Fujita, S. Fuma, A. Galizzi, N. Galleron, S.-Y. Ghim, P. Glaser, A. Goffeau, E. J. Golightly, G. Grandi, G. Guiseppi, B. J. Guy, K. Haga, J. Haiech, C. R. Harwood, A. Hénaut, H. Hilbert, S. Holsappel, S. Hosono, M.-F. Hullo, M. Itaya, L. Jones, B. Joris, D. Karamata, Y. Kasahara, M. Klaerr-Blanchard, C. Klein, Y. Kobayashi, P. Koetter, G. Koningstein, S. Krogh, M. Kumano, K. Kurita, A. Lapidus, S. Lardinois, J. Lauber, V. Lazarevic, S.-M. Lee, A. Levine, H. Liu, S. Masuda, C. Mauël, C. Médigue, N. Medina, R. P. Mellado, M. Mizuno, D. Moestl, S. Nakai, M. Noback, D. Noone, M. O'Reilly, K. Ogawa, A. Ogiwara, B. Oudega, S.-H. Park, V. Parro, T. M. Pohl, D. Portelle, S. Porwollik, A. M. Prescott, E. Presecan, P. Pujic, B. Purnelle, G. Rapoport, M. Rey, S. Reynolds, M. Rieger, C. Rivolta, E. Rocha, B. Roche, M. Rose, Y. Sadaie, T. Sato, E. Scanlan, S. Schleich, R. Schroeter, F. Scoffone, J. Sekiguchi, A. Sekowska, S. J. Seror, P. Serror, B.-S. Shin, B. Soldo, A. Sorokin, E. Tacconi, T. Takagi, H. Takahashi, K. Takemaru, M. Takeuchi, A. Tamakoshi, T. Tanaka, P. Terpstra, A. Togoni, V. Tosato, S. Uchiyama, M. Vandebol, F. Vannier, A. Vassarotti, A. Viari, R. Wambutt, H. Wedler, T. Weitzenegger, P. Winters, A. Wipat, H. Yamamoto, K. Yamane, K. Yasumoto, K. Yata, K. Yoshida, H. F. Yoshikawa, E. Zumstein, H. Yoshikawa, A. Danchin, The complete genome sequence of the gram-positive bacterium *Bacillus subtilis*. *Nature* **390**, 249–256 (1997). [doi:10.1038/36786](https://doi.org/10.1038/36786) [Medline](#)
44. P. A. Levin, I. G. Kurtser, A. D. Grossman, Identification and characterization of a negative regulator of FtsZ ring formation in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **96**, 9642–9647 (1999). [doi:10.1073/pnas.96.17.9642](https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.17.9642) [Medline](#)
45. S. Senesi, E. Ghelardi, F. Celandroni, S. Salvetti, E. Parisio, A. Galizzi, Surface-associated flagellum formation and swarming differentiation in *Bacillus subtilis* are controlled by the *ifm* locus. *J. Bacteriol.* **186**, 1158–1164 (2004). [doi:10.1128/JB.186.4.1158-1164.2004](https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.186.4.1158-1164.2004) [Medline](#)

Acknowledgments

We thank F. Gueiros-Filho, R. Losick, M. Erb, and P. Levin for strains; J. Xiao for discussions; L. Lavis for [Janelia Fluor](#) dyes; B. Murphy and E. Pasciak for FDAA synthesis help; F. Gueiros-Filho, R. Daniel, and J. Errington for antibodies; R. Losick, B. LaSarre, and D. Kearns for comments. This work was supported by NIH grants GM113172 to [M.S.V.](#) and [Y.V.B.](#); GM51986 to [Y.V.B.](#); DP2AI117923-01 to [E.C.G.](#); a Newcastle University Research Fellowship and Royal Society Research Grant RG150475 to [S.H.](#); a Science Without Borders Research Fellowship to [A.W.B.-F.](#); an [European Research Council](#) Advanced Grant SynDiv 669598 to [C.D.](#), and an NSF [GRFP Graduate Research Fellowship Program](#) (DGE1144152) to [G.R.S.](#) SIM was performed in the Indiana University Light Microscopy Imaging Center supported by S10RR028697-01. [Erkin E.Kuru](#), [Yves-Brun](#), and [Michael VanNieuwenhze](#) are inventors on [United States U.S. Patent Application 14/395,815](#) (PCT Patent Application PCT/US2013/037504), submitted by the Indiana University Research and Technology Corporation, that covers the use of fluorescent [D-amino acids \(FDAAs\)](#) for labeling of bacterial cell walls. [Data are available in the text and supplementary materials. Movies S1 to S10 are also available at <http://garnerlab.fas.harvard.edu/FtsZ/>. Code is available at <https://bitbucket.org/garnerlab/bisson-2016>.](#)

Comment [BEPO9]: or M.S.V.N.? here and below and after corresponding author.

Comment [BEPO10]: There is a standard sentence, please revise as needed.

Supplementary Materials

www.sciencemag.org/content/355/issue/page/suppl/DC1

Materials and Methods

Figs. S1 to S7

Tables S1 to S4

Movies S1 to S10 [available at http://garnerlab.fas.harvard.edu/FtsZ/](http://garnerlab.fas.harvard.edu/FtsZ/)

[Code available at https://bitbucket.org/garnerlab/bisson-2016](https://bitbucket.org/garnerlab/bisson-2016)

References (25–45)

26 September 2016; accepted 20 January 2017

Fig. 1. Septal PG synthesis occurs at discrete, mobile sites. (A) Sequential FDAA labeling ([HADA, 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid-3-amino-D-alanine](#); [BADA, BODIPY FL-D-alanine](#); [TADA, tetramethylrhodamine 3-amino-D-alanine](#)) of division septa shows outside-in synthesis ([arrowhead](#)). (Right) 90° rotations of septa. (B) Sites of PG synthesis move around the septum. (C) Correlation coefficient of overlap between colors in (B) and (E). Line: \bar{x} , mean; box: σ , SD. ****** $P < 0.00001$.** (D) FDAA labeling proceeds from puncta to complete rings. (Left) Area of FDAA features increases with pulse length. Lines: \bar{x} , mean; r , correlation coefficient of the means. (Center) Blinded classification of FDAA features at various pulse lengths. (Right) Representative images of septal PG structures. (E) Sites of PG synthesis are offset from synthetic enzymes. Colored bars indicate time course of FDAA labeling. All images [were](#) taken with 3D-SIM. Scale bars: $0.5 \mu\text{m}$.

Comment [BEPO11]: Please spell out HADA, BADA, TADA, another way if appropriate. In another paper, I did not find a dash between acid and 3-amino.

Comment [BEPO12]: Please correct as needed.

Formatted: Font: Italic, Kern at 14 pt

Fig. 2. FtsAZ and Pbp2B move directionally around the division site. (A) mNeonGreen-FtsZ (bAB185) shows directional motion inside (left) and outside (right) the Z ring; [montage at 8-s intervals](#). (B) FtsA-mNeonGreen (bAB167) shows directional motion inside (left) and outside (right) the ring. (C) mNeonGreen-FtsZ and FtsA-HaloTag-JF549 (bAB229) colocalize and move together. [yellow](#). (D) FtsAZ overexpression [$100 \mu\text{M}$ [isopropyl \$\beta\$ -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside \(IPTG\)](#) in bAB221] creates increased FtsZ filaments showing directional motion outside the Z ring. (E) Vertically immobilized cells ([Bacillus sp. SH41](#)) show multiple, independent mNeonGreen-FtsZ filaments moving in both directions around the division site. Cropped rings and radial kymographs in early (left), [middle](#) (center), and late (right) divisional stages. Blue arrows indicate directional FtsZ tracks. (F) Single molecules of Pbp2B (bGS31, 15-min incubation of 50 pM JF549) move directionally around the division site. Blue to yellow indicates trajectory time. [Kymographs drawn at yellow arrows. Scale bars, \$0.5 \mu\text{m}\$.](#) (G) Velocity distributions of FtsA filaments, FtsZ filaments, and single Pbp2B molecules. ~~[Kymographs drawn at yellow arrows. Scale bars = \$0.5 \mu\text{m}\$.](#)~~

Comment [BEPO13]: What causes the yellow fluorescence?

Formatted: Font: Italic, Kern at 14 pt

Fig. 3. Directional FtsAZ motion is driven by treadmilling, independent of cell wall synthesis, and [is](#) required for Pbp2B motion. (A) FtsZ continues to move directionally after treatment with penicillin G. bAB185 imaged 5 min after addition of 3 μl of 10 mg/ml penicillin G to an agarose pad. (B) FtsZ continues to move directionally after Pbp2B depletion. Before imaging, bGS31 was grown without IPTG until no divisions were observed (3 hours). (C) Single molecules of FtsZ and FtsA are immobile within the division site. Single molecules were obtained by growing bAB219 with no IPTG (left) or bAB229 with 15 min of 250 pM JF646 (right). (D) Overexpression of GTPase-deficient FtsZ stops FtsZ and Pbp2B motion. bAB217 (left) and bGS90 (right) were imaged after induction of FtsZ(D213A) (100 μM IPTG, 1 hour). (E) Directional motion of FtsZ and Pbp2B is stopped by PC190723. bAB185 (left) and bGS31 with 15-min incubation of 50 pM JF549 (right) 5 min after addition of 10 μM PC190723. (F) FtsZ velocity increases [following after](#) exposure to MciZ. bAB185 was imaged [following after](#) addition of 1 μM MciZ in a microfluidic device. (G) Velocity distributions of FtsZ filaments (bAB217) at different levels of FtsZ(D213A) induction. (H) Velocity distributions of FtsZ filaments under different perturbations.

Comment [BEPO14]: Is it appropriate to indicate what this and bGS90 are or to spell them out?

Fig. 4. Cytokinesis is controlled by directional motion of FtsAZ filaments. (A) FtsZ(D213A) overexpression (1 mM IPTG in bAB217) produces slowly growing FtsA spirals with spiral FDAA insertion. (Top) Montage of growing FtsA spiral acquired with spinning-disk confocal [imaging](#). (Bottom) Sequential FDAA labeling and FtsA localization imaged with 3D-SIM in a

fixed cell. **(B)** Altering FtsZ velocity changes the amount and total area of FDAA incorporation. (left) PY79 with 1 $\mu\text{g/ml}$ PC190723; for 10 min, (middle) bAB217 with 20 μM IPTG for 1 hour, (right) AH93 with 50 mM xylose; for 5 min. ~~Following~~ After treatment, cells were incubated with TADA for the indicated time, fixed, then imaged with 3D-SIM. (Far right) Total intensity and area of septal FDAA incorporation. Lines; mean. **(C)** Cytokinesis scales with FtsZ treadmill velocity. For each condition, pairs of strains were used to measure +(i) FtsZ velocity (using mNeonGreen-FtsZ) and 2(ii) septation rates (using mNeonGreen-Pbp2B). (Top) Kymographs of constricting Pbp2B rings in different FtsZ backgrounds (line marks start of constriction). (Bottom) Plot of constriction time versus FtsZ velocity under ~~in~~ different conditions. Treadmill velocity and septation rates were acquired in identical conditions, save for measurements with MciZ (see SOM). Error bars; SD of the mean. **(D)** Model for treadmill-coupled cell division. (Top) The Z ring contains multiple FtsAZ filaments that treadmill around the division plane, pulling associated PG synthases. (Bottom) FtsZ treadmill both regulates and distributes the activity of the PG synthases, building sequentially smaller uniform arcs of PG to divide the cell.